
Annual

    
    

Report

20
  1

0

China Seven Star Shopping Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
Stock Code : 245

年
報

20
  1

0

(於香港註冊成立之有限公司)
股份代號 : 245

中國七星購物有限公司  

2010



2 0 1 0  A n n u a l  r e p o r t

Contents

01

Pages

CORPORATE INFORMATION	 2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	 3

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS	 8

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT	 16

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES	 22

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 	 25

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT	 27

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	 28

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	 29

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	 30

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	 31

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	 32

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	 34

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY	 81

GROUP PROPERTIES	 82



Corporate Information

02

China seven star shopping limited

Board of Directors

Executive Directors
Ni Xinguang (Chairman)
Wang Zhiming (Managing Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chan Wai Sum
Wong Chak Keung
Lu Wei

Audit Committee

Wong Chak Keung (Chairman)
Chan Wai Sum
Lu Wei

Remuneration Committee

Chan Wai Sum (Chairman)
Wong Chak Keung
Lu Wei

Company Secretary

Law Gerald Edwin

Principal Bankers

China Merchants Bank
China Construction Bank
Industrial and Commercial Bank of
  China (Asia) Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
  Corporation Limited
UBS

Stock Code

245 HK

Solicitors

Boase Cohen & Collins
ONC Lawyers
Trend Associates

Independent Auditor

RSM Nelson Wheeler
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Office

Suite 1206, 12/F.
Great Eagle Centre
23 Harbour Road
Wanchai
Hong Kong

Principal Place of Business in Shanghai

No.568 Hongxu Road
Minhang District 
Shanghai, China

Registrar and Transfer Office

Tricor Tengis Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Website

www.sevenstar.hk



2 0 1 0  A n n u a l  r e p o r t

Management Discussion and Analysis

03

Market Review

PRC consumer goods market analysis
Following the policy of “Adjusting Structure and Promoting Consumption” implemented by the 

Chinese Government, the Chinese economy achieved strong growth in 2010. Data from the National 
Bureau of Statistics of China showed that annual GDP grew by 10.3% to RMB39,798.3 billion and 
annual total per capita income of urban residents also rose by 11.5% to RMB21,033. Increasing 
consumption and actual spending power of consumers has contributed to quicker growth in the 
retail industry. The total retail sales of consumer products in the country for the entire year increased 
by 18.4% year-on-year to RMB15,455.4 billion. With materialization of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan 
boosting domestic demand, the PRC economy is expected to continue expanding steadily, creating 
favorable conditions for the prosperous development of the retail market.

Media shopping market analysis and prospects
Although the State Administration of Radio Film and Television (“SARFT”) implemented a series 

of policies in 2009 to regulate and consolidate the industry, the matter of integrity surrounding 
the television shopping industry has not been resolved entirely. Questionable business practices 
and frequent issues of fraud raised over the years have made consumers resist television shopping. 
According to information contained in the “White paper of the communication marketing industry 
development in the PRC in 2010*” （《2010年中國通訊營銷渠道行業發展白皮書》） issued by the 
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the proportion of overall retail sales of consumer 
goods conducted by television shopping constituted less than 1% in the PRC.

Compared with the traditional television direct sale industry, the home shopping industry 
showed more rational development. Strong support from the Chinese government has brought new 
opportunities to home television shopping industry. SARFT currently manages home television shopping 
channels through unified licensing, enabling relevant enterprises holding government licenses to 
grow healthily and enhance their reputation, which in turn helps improve the overall standard of the 
industry. Moreover, the media shopping industry is planning to launch the “National Standard of 
Media Shopping in the PRC*”（中國媒體購物國家標準）, standardizing online shopping, television 
shopping, radio shopping and telephone shopping. Formulation of the standard has been completed 
and is currently in the application stage. Implementation of the regulatory policies is expected to help 
regain consumer confidence toward the industry.

The global television shopping industry is growing at a pace of over 20% per year. The annual 
income from the television shopping industry in the United States even accounts for 8% of the nation’s 
total retail sales. Hence, the television shopping industry in the PRC has enormous potential for 
substantial growth. The analyst of China Market Intelligence Center has stated that the television 
shopping market will surge from RMB23.4 billion in 2009 to RMB500 billion in 2020 – just ten 
year’s time – paralleling the rise in total retail sales in the PRC. Further increase in income and 
spending power of Chinese citizens will create bright prospects for the country’s television shopping 
industry.

*  Management translation
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Business review

With support from the Chinese government, the home television shopping industry is expected to 
have a promising future. As such, the Group leveraged its significant experience in media shopping, 
print media, the Internet and retail store to actively expand its home television shopping business with 
the objective of providing a unique home television shopping experience for its customers.

The Group has been authorized to conduct a home shopping business via digital television 
channel, specifically launching the 24-hour JIA XI GOU WU shopping channel*（家禧購物頻道）
in Fuzhou City, Fujian Province during the year. In addition, the Group expanded related businesses 
in other PRC cities by working with local television stations, setting up home shopping channels in 
Shanghai, Hangzhou City in Zhejiang Province, Suzhou City in Jiangsu Province, Zhangjiagang 
City, Yancheng City, and Nanning City in Guangxi Province. The home shopping business is still in 
its initial stage of development and accounted for 16% of the Group merchandise sales in 2010. 
Looking ahead, the Group will further expand its coverage to other potential areas in order to 
further expand its customer base. The management remains optimistic that this segment will gradually 
increase its profit contributions to the Group.

To complement the JIA XI GOU WU shopping channel, the Group opened its first concept store, 
JIA XI XING HUO GUAN*（家禧星活館）, in Fuzhou City, Fujian Province in November 2010. This 
move demonstrated the Group’s ability to expand from the television shopping segment to the retail 
sales segment, and represented its first step toward enhancing its coverage of the home television 
shopping business in the country. The new concept store is equipped with computers and TVs, and 
has actual products on display, including a catalogue for customers’ reference. The staff provide after-
sale and exchange services, helping eliminate any concerns customers may have as well as instill 
confidence in the Group’s products. JIA XI GOU WU（家禧購物）also has a large shopping website 
called XIN HUO GUAN（星活館）that offers such products as cosmetics, kitchenware, small home 
appliances and electronics, providing abundant choices and a convenient shopping experience for 
customers.

By bolstering complementary support services, such as 24-hour call center, online shopping 
guide, nationwide delivery service and multiple payment methods, this has enabled the Group to 
build a one-stop shopping network consisting of JIA XI GOU WU shopping channel, XING HUO 
GUAN concept store and XING HUO GUAN website. This has in turn created a comprehensive 
shopping platform comprising TV, print media, online media and retail store for consumers. The Group 
continued to upgrade the entire supply chain as well; encompassing product development, sales 
and delivery, with the aim of enhancing operational efficiency and strengthening market influence 
of its business, thereby effectively meet the increasing demand and elevate the Group’s image as a 
trustworthy shopping service enterprise.

During the year under review, the Group was granted exclusive agency rights to advertising air 
time via a satellite television channel of Guangdong TV Station (“GDTV”). The rights cover a three-
year period and prompted the development of the Group’s media management business. Since the 
business was still in its initial stage, its contribution to the Group was yet to be reflected. In the future, 
as the operating model further matures and relationship between the Group and related partners 
strengthens, the media management business is expected to gradually generate revenue to the Group.

*  Management translation
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Sales results and performance review
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s consolidated turnover was approximately 

HK$580,085,000, represents an increase of approximately 24% from 2009, mainly attributable 
to the newly added exclusive television advertising agency contract. The Group recorded a loss 
on the gross profit line during the year as compared to a profit for the year ended 31 December 
2009. Based on the legal interpretation of the terms as contained in the structural contracts the 
Group entered into for the purpose of consolidating the financial results of the television shopping 
and related businesses, and under the HKAS 27 (revised) “Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements” that became effective for the Company’s financial statements from 2010 onwards, the 
non-controlling interests of the PRC business of the Group shared a portion of the loss before tax of 
approximately HK$207,129,000 (2009: loss of HK$1,171,000), resulting in an loss attributable 
to the owners of the Company of approximately HK$42,367,000 (2009: profit attributable to the 
owners of the Company of approximately HK$6,200,000).

As a result of the questionable practices of some television shopping industry players triggering 
an integrity crisis which led to a decrease in the ratio of television sales to advertising costs, the 
higher return rate of goods sold as well as the conscious decision to business segment diversification 
by the Group, the retail revenue of the Group dropped 55% to HK$196,912,000 (2009: 
HK$433,713,000). Gross margin of merchandise sales was 25% (2009:40%).

On financial position and cash flows, for the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s 
total assets were HK$1,254,296,000 (2009: HK$380,119,000), an increase of 230% when 
compared with 2009. Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities, investing activities and 
financing activities were at HK$(63,628,000), HK$7,133,000 and HK$1,060,000 respectively 
(2009: HK$(76,624,000), HK$20,491,000 and HK$2,009,000). Capital expenditure for the 
year was HK$675,000 (2009: HK$5,322,000) with depreciation and amortization for tangible 
and intangible assets at HK$460,385,000 (2009: HK$4,886,000). Strength of the Chinese 
Yuan also contributed to a favorable currency effect of HK$7,478,000 (2009: HK$305,000) to 
the current year’s reserves. As at 31 December 2010, the total cash position of the Group was 
HK$118,410,000 (2009: HK$163,681,000).

Outlook and strategy
According to the Twelfth Five-Year Plan, the PRC will drive domestic consumption and spending 

power by increasing income of its people in the next five years. Greater spending by rural residents, 
consumption upgrade by urban residents and urbanization in the PRC will become important drivers 
for consumption growth, presenting enormous opportunities to the local consumer market. The Group 
will seek to capture such opportunities in its bid to further expand the home television shopping 
business, enabling consumers to experience comprehensive and thoughtful shopping services while 
staying at home.

Currently, the Chinese Government places great emphasis on three-network convergence, which 
is part of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan. More pilot cities are expected to participate in this development. 
With the implementation of relevant policies, full convergence of the telecommunications network, 
broadcast television network and the Internet will help provide more communication channels for 
China Seven Star to promote its brand. Greater information exchange and transparency as well as 
growing consumer confidence will create opportunities for the Group to pursue long-term development 
goals.
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In anticipation of steady economic growth and rapid expansion of the retail sector in the PRC, 
the Group will continue efforts to enlarge its existing home shopping and media management 
businesses, and at the same time closely observe the trends in the media shopping segment. The 
management will strive to seize enormous opportunities in the retail sector and deliver satisfactory 
returns to shareholders.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had financial assets (excluding receivables) amounted 
to approximately HK$118,410,000 (2009: HK$175,977,000) of which approximately 
HK$112,124,000 (2009: HK$163,397,000) are liquid cash deposits.

The Directors are of the opinion that there is sufficient cash resources for the Group to meet its 
financial obligation and business requirements.

Exposure to Exchange Rate Fluctuation and Related Hedging

The Directors considered that the Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of 
its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars or 
Renminbi which is the functional currency of the Group entities. The Group does not have a foreign 
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency debt. The Group will monitor its foreign 
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 
need arise.

Staff and Remuneration Policy

The Group had 402 employees (including Directors) as at 31 December 2010 (2009: 
665). The Group recruits and promotes individuals based on their performance and development 
potential in the positions held. Remuneration package is determined with reference to an employee’s 
performance and the prevailing salary levels in the market. In addition, the Group adopts a share 
option scheme for eligible employees (including Directors) to provide incentives to participants for 
their contributions and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$1,254,296,000 
(2009: HK$380,119,000) and no borrowings (2009: HK$Nil).

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital was HK$732,777,084 
divided into 7,327,770,839 shares of HK$0.10 each (at 31 December 2009: HK$732,428,084 
divided into 7,324,280,839 shares of HK$0.10 each).
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Charges on Group’s Assets

Save for the details of pledged bank deposits as set out in note 27 to the financial statements. 
as at 31 December 2010, there were no charges on the Group’s assets.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2010.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31 December 2010.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associates

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associates 
during the year ended 31 December 2010.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and audited financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Principal Activities

The Group is principally engaged in the retail and distribution of consumer products and 
provision of television advertising services in the PRC, and property holding and investment in Hong 
Kong.

The Group’s turnover is mainly derived from business activities in Mainland China. An analysis of 
the Group’s income for the year is set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010 are set out in note 21 
to the financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out in the consolidated 
income statement on page 27 of this report.

The state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs at 31 December 2010 is set out in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and statement of financial position on pages 29 and 30 
of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2010 (2009: HK$Nil).

Annual General Meeting

The 2011 annual general meeting (the ”2011 AGM”) will be held on 8 June 2011, 
Wednesday. Shareholders should refer to details regarding the 2011 AGM in the circular of the 
Company of 13 April 2011 and the notice of meeting and form of proxy accompanying thereto.

Fixed Assets

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out in note 19 to the 
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves during the year are set out in note 32 to the financial 
statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2010, calculated under Section 79B 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$Nil (2009: HK$Nil).
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Group Properties

Details of properties of the Group as at 31 December 2010 are set out on page 82 of this 
report.

Five Year Financial Summary

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from 
the audited financial statements, are summarised on page 81 of this report.

Directors

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ni Xinguang (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Zhiming (Managing Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wai Sum
Mr. Lu Wei
Mr. Wong Chak Keung	 (appointed on 31 January 2011)
Mr. Ho Wai Ip	 (resigned on 31 January 2011)

In accordance with article 116 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), 
Mr. Lu Wei and Mr. Chan Wai Sum will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with articles 99 and 117 of the Articles, Mr. Wong Chak Keung will retire at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

Directors’ Profiles

Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 22 to 24 of this report.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely 
Mr. Chan Wai Sum, Mr. Wong Chak Keung and Mr. Lu Wei, an annual confirmation of their 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Company considers all of the independent non-executive 
Directors are independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

For the executive Directors, Mr. Ni Xinguang entered into a service contract with the Company 
for a period of two years commencing 1 April 2008 which has expired on 31 March 2010. Mr. 
Ni has not entered into any new written service contract with the Company. Mr. Wang Zhiming, 
as an executive Director, and the other independent non-executive Directors have not entered into 
any written service contract with the Company and they are not appointed for specific term, but all 
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired 
service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interest in Shares

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short positions of the Directors or chief executive of 
the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated 
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as 
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or 
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or 
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model 
Code”), are set out below:

1.	 Aggregate long position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company 
and its associated corporations

	N umber of shares held	P ercentage
	P ersonal	 Corporate		  of the issued
Name of Director	 interests	 interests	T otal	 share capital
				    (Note (b))

Ni Xinguang	 95,780,000	 1,886,680,000	 1,982,460,000	 27.05%
		  (Note (a))

Wang Zhiming	 94,780,000	 1,886,680,000	 1,981,460,000	 27.04%
		  (Note (a))

Notes:

(a)	 1,886,680,000 shares were owned by Group First Limited, a private company beneficially owned by 
Mr. Ni Xinguang as to 60% and Mr. Wang Zhiming as to 40%, representing approximately 25.75% of 
the issued share capital of the Company.

(b)	 The percentage was calculated based on the total number of 7,327,770,839 ordinary shares of the 
Company in issue as at 31 December 2010.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors or chief executive 
of the Company had any interest in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or 
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the 
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code.

2.	 Aggregate short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company 
and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2010, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company, had any 
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated 
corporations which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO 
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the 
Model Code.
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Share Options

On 28 May 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new share 
option scheme (the “2004 Share Option Scheme”). The 2004 Share Option Scheme will expire on 
27 May 2014.

Movements of the options, which were granted under the 2004 Share Option Scheme, during 
the year were listed below in accordance with Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules:

		  	N umber of	N umber of	N umber of
		N  umer of	 option shares	 option shares	 option shares	N umber of
		  option shares	  granted	 exercised	 lapsed	 option shares	E xercise
		  held as at	 during	 during	 during 	 held as at	 price
Category	 Date of grant	 01/01/2010	 the year	 the year	 the year	 31/12/2010	H K$	E xercise period

Employees	 27/12/2006	 12,660,000	 –	 –	 –	 12,660,000	 0.157	 27/06/2008-26/06/2018
	 27/12/2006	 12,660,000	 –	 –	 –	 12,660,000	 0.157	 27/12/2008-26/12/2018
	 08/03/2007	 5,000,000	 –	 –	 –	 5,000,000	 0.722	 08/03/2007-07/03/2015
	 08/03/2007	 5,000,000	 –	 –	 –	 5,000,000	 0.722	 08/03/2008-07/03/2015
	 08/03/2007	 5,000,000	 –	 –	 –	 5,000,000	 0.722	 08/03/2009-07/03/2015
	 08/03/2007	 5,000,000	 –	 –	 –	 5,000,000	 0.722	 08/03/2010-07/03/2015

Consultants	 30/04/2007	 240,000	 –	 –	 –	 240,000	 1.230	 30/04/2008-29/04/2015
	 29/04/2008	 3,490,000	 –	 3,490,000	 –	 –	 0.143	 29/04/2009-28/04/2016
	 30/04/2009	 7,000,000	 –	 –	 –	 7,000,000	 0.100	 05/05/2010-04/05/2017
	 10/09/2010	 –	 7,000,000	 –	 _	 7,000,000	 0.150	 10/09/2010-09/09/2013
	 11/11/2010	 –	 135,000,000	 –	 –	 135,000,000	 0.160	 11/11/2010-10/11/2013	

		  	 	 	 	

		  56,050,000	 142,000,000	 3,490,000	 –	 194,560,000
		  	 	 	 	

Further details of share options were stipulated in note 31 to the financial statements.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2010 was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the 
Company or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of 
the acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Apart from the particulars disclosed in note 37 under the heading “Related Party Transactions” 
to the financial statements there were no other contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s 
business, to which the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party nor there were 
any other contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s business between the Company or 
any of the Company’s subsidiaries subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year in 
which a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in 
note 37 to the financial statements. None of these related party transactions constitutes a discloseable 
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.
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Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and the highest paid individuals of the 
Group are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 31 December 2010, so far as was known to the Directors of the Company, the following 
persons, other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company, had an interest or short 
position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company, which were required to be recorded in 
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

	 Capacity in which		P  ercentage of
	 ordinary shares	N umber of	 the issued
Name	 were held	 ordinary shares	 share capital
			   (Note (c))

Group First Limited	 Beneficial owner (Note (a))	 1,886,680,000	 25.75%

Hou Chong Yu	 Beneficial owner	 21,530,000	 0.29%
  (“Ms. Hou”)
	 Interests controlled through	 827,158,839	 11.29%
	   Corporations (Note (b))

Best Idea International Limited	 Beneficial owner	 771,658,839	 10.53%
  (Note (b))

Notes:

(a)	 Group First Limited is a private company beneficially owned by Mr. Ni Xinguang as to 60% and by Mr. 
Wang Zhiming as to 40%. Both Mr. Ni Xinguang and Mr. Wang Zhiming are executive Directors of 
the Company. Accordingly, the 1,886,680,000 shares owned by Group First Limited is also deemed 
to be the corporate interests of each of Mr. Ni Xinguang and Mr. Wang Zhiming.

(b)	 The following corporations, which are wholly controlled by Ms. Hou, hold the following interests in the 
Company:

Name of Corporations	N umber of Shares held

Golden Pioneer Investments Inc	 55,500,000
Best Idea International Limited	 771,658,839
	

	 827,158,839
	

(c)	 The percentage has been calculated based on the total number of 7,327,770,839 ordinary shares of 
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2010.

(d)	 All the interests disclosed under this section represent long position in the shares of the Company. 
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company are not aware 
that there is any party who, as at 31 December 2010, had interests or short positions in the shares 
and underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or 
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of 
general meetings of the Company or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities

During the year ended 31 December 2010, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had 
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

Rights to acquire Company’s Securities

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Options” and “Directors’ Interest in Shares” 
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow 
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company 
or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for 
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire 
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part 
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Retirement Benefits

The Group did not operate any retirement scheme up to 30 November 2000. With effect from 
1 December 2000, MPF Scheme has been set up for employees, including executive Directors of 
the Company, in Hong Kong, in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance 
(the “MPF Ordinance”). Under the MPF Scheme, the Group’s contributions are at 5% of employees’ 
relevant income as defined in the MPF Ordinance up to a maximum of HK$1,000 per employee per 
month. The employees also contribute a corresponding amount to the MPF Scheme from 31 December 
2000. The MPF contributions are fully and immediately vested in the employees as accrued benefits 
once they are paid. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an 
independently administered fund.

The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme and PRC pension scheme for PRC staff charged to 
the consolidated income statement during the year amounted to approximately HK$64,000 (2009: 
HK$64,000) and HK$4,058,000 (2009: HK$3,445,000) respectively.
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Competing Interests

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the Company and their respective 
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or may 
compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interest with the Group during the 
year and up to the date of this report.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees and senior management of the Group is set up by the 
remuneration committee of the Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the remuneration committee of the Company, 
having regard to market competitiveness, individual performance and achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible 
employees, details of the scheme is set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major customers 
and suppliers are as follows:

		

	 2010	 2009

The largest customer	 19.1%	 1.6%
Five largest customers in aggregate	 39.4%	 7.1%
The largest supplier	 15.4%	 17.8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate	 57.0%	 48.0%

At no time during the year, none of the Directors, their associates or shareholders (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any 
interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed above.

Corporate Governance

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the “Corporate 
Governance Report” section of this annual report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of 
the Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2010, there was a sufficiency of public float 
the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of 
reference in compliance with the requirements as set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of 
reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and internal controls of the Group. The 
Audit Committee currently comprises Mr. Wong Chak Keung (Chairman), Mr. Chan Wai Sum and 
Mr. Lu Wei. The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the management and the external 
auditors financial reporting matters including the annual results for the year ended 31 December 
2010.

Auditor

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, RSM Nelson Wheeler, will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
China Seven Star Shopping Limited

Ni Xinguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2011
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) and the management are committed to 
maintaining and ensuring high standards of corporate governance as good corporate governance 
can safeguard the interests of all shareholders and enhance corporate value. The Board continuously 
reviews and improves the corporate governance practices and standards of the Group from time 
to time to ensure that business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper 
manner.

The Board has applied the principles and complied with all the applicable Code provisions and 
where applicable, the recommended practices of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the 
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2010 except 
for deviation from Code provision A.4.1 of the Code.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific 
term, subject to re-election.

None of the existing independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) is appointed for a 
specific term. 

Although the INEDs are not appointed for a specific term, the Company believes that as all 
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting at least 
once for every three years pursuant to the Articles, such practice meets the same objective and is no 
less exacting than those prescribed under Code provision A.4.1.

Board of Directors

Functions and role

The Board has overall responsibility in formulating the strategic development of the Group, 
monitoring and controlling the Company’s operation and financial performance. All the appointed 
Directors are subject to rotation for re-appointment at the annual general meeting, and each of the 
Directors is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Appropriate and sufficient 
information was provided to each of the Directors to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director 
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.
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The INEDs are expressly identified in all corporate communications such as circular, 
announcement or relevant corporate communications in which the names of Directors are disclosed. 
Each of the INEDs has filed an annual confirmation to the Company confirming their independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all INEDs meet the 
independent guideline set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family relationship among 
the members of the Board as at 31 December 2010. All of them are free to exercise their individual 
judgment.

Composition

The Board comprises five Directors, of which two are executive Directors and three are INEDs. 
One of the three INEDs possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial 
management expertise, which complies with the requirement of the Listing Rules. The Directors’ 
respective biographical information is set out in this annual report under the heading “Directors’ 
Profiles” and the names of current Directors on Board and their positions are as follows:

Name of Directors	P osition

Executive Directors
Mr. Ni Xinguang	 Chairman
Mr. Wang Zhiming	 Managing Director

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wai Sum
Mr. Wong Chak Keung*
Mr. Lu Wei
Mr. Ho Wai Ip*

*	 Mr. Ho Wai Ip has resigned as the Company’s INED on 31 January 2011 and Mr. Wong Chak Keung 
was appointed as the Company’s INED on the same day.

The Board held 4 regular Board meetings during the financial year ended 31 December 2010. 
Appropriate and sufficient information was provided to the Board in a timely manner for their review 
before the meetings. Attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings is set out in the section of 
“Attendance of Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee Meetings in 2010”.

Chairman and Managing Director

The positions and roles of Chairman of the Board and Managing Director (having the same 
function of chief executive officer) of the Company are held and performed separately by two 
individuals to ensure their respective independence, accountability and responsibility. Mr. Ni 
Xinguang, the Chairman of the Company, is responsible for the leadership of the Board, and 
oversees the business development of the Company and its subsidiaries including strategic and 
corporate development. Mr. Wang Zhiming, the Managing Director of the Company is responsible 
for the management of day-to-day operation of the Group.
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Board Practices

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the approval and monitoring of the Group’s 
overall strategies and policies; approval of annual budgets and business plans; evaluating the 
performance of the Group; and oversight of management. One of the important roles of the Chairman 
is to provide leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Group. 
The Chairman shall ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and 
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. All Directors have 
been consulted about any matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated 
the responsibility for drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the Company Secretary. 
With the support of executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure 
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate and 
reliable information in a timely manner. Four Board meetings were held during the year for facilitating 
the function of the Board. The Board believes that the Board meetings held during the financial year 
were adequate to cover all major issues during the year. In any event all Directors were available for 
consultation by management from time to time during the year.

Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership of 
the Managing Director. The Managing Director, working with the management team is responsible for 
managing the businesses of the Group, including implementation of strategies adopted by the Board 
and assuming full accountability to the Board for the operations of the Group. All Directors have 
made full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board always acts in the best 
interests of the Group. Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman may hold meetings with 
the INEDs without the presence of executive Directors.

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, the Board has established 
and delegated specific responsibilities to the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. The 
details of the committees are stipulated on pages 19 and 20 of this report.

Sufficient formal notice of every regular Board meeting is given to all Directors to give them the 
opportunity to attend. Board papers are circulated not less than three days before the Board meetings 
to enable the Directors to make informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board meetings. 
The Company Secretary shall attend all regular Board meetings to advise on corporate governance, 
statutory compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary. Directors shall have full 
access to information on the Group and are able to seek independent professional advice whenever 
deemed necessary. The Company Secretary shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters 
discussed and decisions resolved at all Board meetings. Draft and final versions of Board minutes 
have sent to all Directors for their comment and records respectively within a reasonable time after 
the board meeting.

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities has been in force to protect the 
Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are 
followed and that the Board is fully briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance 
developments and has regarded to them when making decisions. The Company Secretary is also 
responsible for advising the Board on the Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations of the 
Listing Rules, Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases, Companies Ordinance, 
Securities and Futures Ordnance and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements 
of the Company for each financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period and ensure that they are prepared in 
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. With the assistance 
of the Company Secretary of the Company, the Directors also ensure the publication of the financial 
statements of the Group in a timely manner.

The report of the external auditor of the Company, RSM Nelson Wheeler, with regard to their 
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s 
Report on pages 25 and 26 of this annual report.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having 
made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.

Director Nomination Procedures

The Company has not set up a nomination committee yet. According to the Articles, the Board 
has the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a 
causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board. The current nomination procedures for appointment 
of new Directors would normally take into consideration of the candidates’ past experience, 
qualifications and any other factors, if any, which are relevant to the Company’s business. Then, 
shortlisted candidates with their profiles would be brought to the Board before meeting for 
consideration as soon as it is practicable. During the year ended 31 December 2010, no Director 
was appointed.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct 
regarding Directors securities transactions. All the Directors of the Board have confirmed, following 
specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard as set 
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2010.

Audit Committee

Composition

The Company established an Audit Committee in 1999. It has written terms of reference in 
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, 
namely Mr. Wong Chak Keung (Chairman), Mr. Chan Wai Sum and Mr. Lui Wei. The composition 
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing 
Rules. The Audit Committee meets twice a year on a half year basis, or more frequently if required. 
Three Audit Committee meetings were held during the year and the record of attendance of individual 
member is listed out on page 21 of this report.
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Functions and Role

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are, inter alias, to assist the Board in fulfilling 
its overseeing responsibilities with respect to maintaining appropriate relationship with external 
auditors, and, to review the annual and interim report and other financial information provided by 
the Company to its shareholders, the public and others and matters within the scope of the terms of 
reference. The term of reference have been posted on the Company’s website.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee performed the following work during the 
year of 2010:

(i)	 reviewed the effectiveness of audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

(ii)	 reviewed the financial statements and reports and the change in accounting principles and 
policies and assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

(iii)	 reviewed the Group’s internal control system and discussed the relevant issues including 
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions; and

(iv)	 reviewed the external auditor’s management letter and ensure the Board will provide a timely 
response to the issues raised therein.

Remuneration Committee

Composition

The Remuneration Committee had been established with written terms of reference. The 
Remuneration Committee members consists of Mr. Chan Wai Sum (the Chairman), Mr. Wong Chak 
Keung and Mr. Lu Wei, all are INEDs. The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. The 
Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year and reviewed the existing remuneration 
policy and structure of the Company. The record of attendance of individual member is listed out on 
page 21 of this report.

Functions and Role

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include determining the remuneration 
policy, structure and remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management and make 
recommendations to the Board, and other related matters. The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for establishing transparent procedures to develop such remuneration policy and structure which 
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the Company 
as well as market practice and conditions. The terms of reference have been posted on the 
Company’s website.

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing the market conditions, time commitment, 
responsibilities, performance of individuals and any other relevant information and propose to the 
Remuneration Committee for consideration and approval. None of the executive Directors can 
determine his own remuneration.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review and approve the 
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management.
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Attendance of Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee Meetings in 2010

	A ttendance/Number of Meetings Held
		A  udit 	R emuneration
	 Board	 Committee	 Committee
Directors

Executive Directors:
Ni Xinguang	 4/4	 N/A	 N/A
Wang Zhiming	 4/4	 N/A	 N/A

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Chan Wai Sum	 4/4	 3/3	 1/1
Ho Wai Ip*	 4/4	 3/3	 1/1
Lu Wei	 4/4	 3/3	 1/1
Wong Chak Keung*	 N/A	 N/A	 N/A

*	 Mr. Ho Wai Ip has resigned as the Company’s INED on 31 January 2011 and Mr. Wong Chak Keung 
was appointed as the Company’s INED on the same day.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the fees paid or payable to external auditor of the Company, RSM Nelson 
Wheeler were HK$1,700,000 for statutory audit services rendered and for non-audit services 
rendered were HK$750,000 to the Group respectively.

Internal Controls and Risks Management

The Board has overall responsibilities for introducing and continuously maintaining sound 
and effective internal control systems of the Group and review its adequacy and effectiveness. It 
is committed to review and implement effective and sound internal control systems to safeguard 
shareholders’ interests. The Board has delegated to the management with defined structure and limits 
of authority, to conduct reviews on and maintenance of all material controls including proper financial 
and accounting records, operational and compliance and risk management functions as well as the 
implementation of the internal control system to ensure compliance with relevant legislations and 
regulations.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the 
Group. The internal control systems will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board in order to 
make it practical and effective.

Investor Relationship and Communication

The Company endeavors to maintain good investor relationship with shareholders and potential 
investors by way of annual general meeting, publication of interim and annual reports on the websites 
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and timely press releases on the Company’s website.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meetings for which a notice would be 
served properly. The Chairman and/or Directors are available to answer questions on the Group’s 
business at the meetings. At general meetings, separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial 
and separate issue such as the election of individual Directors and re-appointment of auditor.
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Mr. Ni Xinguang, aged 41, was appointed as chairman and executive Director on 12 
March 2004 and a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Ni has extensive experience in the 
retail, distribution and printing business in the PRC. Further to a Diploma in Education, Mr. Ni also 
has a Degree of Master of Business Administration from the Nanyang Technological University in the 
Republic of Singapore.

Mr. Ni entered into a service contract with the Company for a period of two years commencing 
1 April 2008 which has expired on 31 March 2010. Mr. Ni has not entered into any new written 
service contract with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual 
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Ni is entitled to an annual 
remuneration of HK$960,000 with discretionary bonus payment as determined by the remuneration 
committee of the Company based on Mr. Ni’s and the Company’s performance. The remuneration 
package of Mr. Ni is determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities as well as the Company’s 
remuneration policy and the market benchmark.

As at the report date, pursuant to Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Mr. 
Ni has personal interest of 95,780,000 Shares in the Company and has 60% beneficial interest in 
Group First Limited, in which owned 1,886,680,000 Shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ni is not connected with any directors, senior management, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, 
Mr. Ni did not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any 
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange 
during the three years preceding the date of this report. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ni was not 
interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares or underlying shares of the Company 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO as at the report date.

Mr. Wang Zhiming, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director on 12 March 2004 
and resigned on 11 November 2005 due to personal commitments. Mr. Wang remained thereafter 
as a business consultant of the Company and Director of the operating subsidiaries of the Company 
and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company again on 18 November 2006 and 
a Director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang was also appointed as a managing 
Director of the Company on 15 October 2007. Mr. Wang obtained a Certificate in Law in the PRC 
and a Degree of Master of Business Administration from the Nanyang Technological University in the 
Republic of Singapore. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in marketing and management of retail 
and distribution operations in the PRC.

Mr. Wang has not entered into any written service contract with the Company and is not 
appointed for a special term but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual 
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Wang is entitled to an annual 
remuneration of HK$780,000 with discretionary bonus payment as determined by the remuneration 
committee of the Company based on Mr. Wang’s and the Company’s performance. The remuneration 
of Mr. Wang is not covered by any service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Wang is 
determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities as well as the Company’s remuneration policy 
and the market benchmark.

As at the report date, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Wang has personal interest of 
94,780,000 Shares in the Company and has 40% beneficial interest in Group First Limited, in which 
owned 1,886,680,000 Shares in the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with any directors, senior management, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. 
Wang did not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any 
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange 
during the three years preceding the date of this report. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang was 
not interested or deemed to be interested in any other shares or underlying shares of the Company 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO as at the report date.

Mr. Wong Chak Keung, aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 31 January 2011. Mr. Wong is also the chairman and member of audit committee and member 
of remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in business from 
The University of Southern Queensland in Australia. Mr. Wong is also a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia respectively. Mr. Wong has been in the 
accounting profession for over 15 years. Before joining the Company, Mr. Wong also held various 
positions in an international accounting firm and in the corporate finance, educational business and 
manufacturing sectors in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently the executive director of China Innovation 
Investment Limited (Stock code: 1217) and China Trends Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8171) which 
are listed on the Main Board and the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange 
respectively and an independent non-executive director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited (Stock code: 
8220) which is listed on the GEM.

Mr. Wong has not entered into any written service contract with the Company and is not 
appointed for a specific term but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual 
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Wong is entitled to an 
annual remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment. The remuneration of Mr. Wong 
is not covered by any service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Wong is determined by 
reference to his duties, responsibilities as well as the Company’s remuneration policy and the market 
benchmark.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected with any directors, senior management, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. 
Wong did not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any 
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange 
during the three years preceding the date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Wong was not 
interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to 
Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Chan Wai Sum, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 5 November 2001. Mr. Chan is also the chairman and member of remuneration committee 
and member of audit committee of the Company. Mr. Chan is the senior executive in various joint 
ventures in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor degree in Social Science from 
the University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration degree from California State 
University. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in project evaluation and implementation and in the 
management of local as well as overseas business operations.

Mr. Chan has not entered into any written service contract with the Company and is not 
appointed for a specific term but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual 
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Chan is entitled to an 
annual remuneration of HK$180,000 without any bonus payment. The remuneration of Mr. Chan 
is not covered by any service contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Chan is determined by 
reference to his duties, responsibilities as well as the Company’s remuneration policy and the market 
benchmark.
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan is not connected with any directors, senior management, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. 
Chan did not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any 
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange 
during the three years preceding the date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Chan was not 
interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to 
Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lu Wei, aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 June 
2005. Mr. Lu is also the members of audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company. 
Mr. Lu is currently a professor and vice dean of the Antai College of Economics & Management of 
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC. He graduated from the School of Management in Shanghai 
Fu Dan University with a Ph.D. degree. Mr. Lu is also an independent non-executive director of Lu Jia 
Zhui Co., Ltd., Shanghai Syp Glass Co. Ltd. and Luo Lan Co., Ltd, all are companies listed on the 
Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lu has not entered into any written service contract with the Company and is not appointed 
for a specific term but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting 
of the Company in accordance with the Articles. Mr. Lu is entitled to an annual remuneration of 
HK$180,000 without any bonus payment. The remuneration of Mr. Lu is not covered by any service 
contract. The remuneration package of Mr. Lu is determined by reference to his duties, responsibilities 
as well as the Company’s remuneration policy and the market benchmark.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lu is not connected with any directors, senior management, 
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, 
Mr. Lu did not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and did not hold any 
directorships in any other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange 
during the three years preceding the date of this report. As at the report date, Mr. Lu was not 
interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying shares of the Company pursuant to 
Part XV of the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA SEVEN STAR SHOPPING LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Seven Star Shopping Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 27 to 80, 
which comprise the consolidated and Company statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2010, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s results and 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RSM Nelson Wheeler
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2011
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		  2010	 2009
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Turnover	 8	 580,085	 469,123
Cost of sales and services		  (616,966)	 (267,899)
		  	

		
Gross (loss)/profit		  (36,881)	 201,224
Other income	 9	 42,929	 10,673
Reversal of write down of properties
  held for resale	 22	 1,700	 600
Gain on bargain purchase		  –	 581
Distribution costs		  (144,274)	 (172,591)
Administrative expenses		  (53,379)	 (44,994)
Other operating expenses		  (21,167)	 (5,283)
		  	

		
Loss from operations		  (211,072)	 (9,790)
Finance costs	 11	 (38,374)	 –
		  	

		
Loss before tax		  (249,446)	 (9,790)
Income tax (expense)/credit	 12	 (50)	 14,819
		  	

		
(Loss)/profit for the year	 13	 (249,496)	 5,029
		  	

Attributable to:
  Owners of the Company	 16	 (42,367)	 6,200
  Non-controlling interests		  (207,129)	 (1,171)
		  	

		
		  (249,496)	 5,029
		  	

		
(Loss)/earnings per share	 18
  Basic		  HK(0.58) cent	 HK0.08 cent
		  	

		
  Diluted		  N/A	 HK0.08 cent
		  	



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

28

CHINA SEVEN STAR SHOPPING LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2010

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

(Loss)/profit for the year	 (249,496)	 5,029
		  	

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations	 2,912	 305
		  	

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax	 2,912	 305
		  	

Total comprehensive income for the year	 (246,584)	 5,334
		  	

Attributable to:
  Owners of the Company	 (34,889)	 6,505
  Non-controlling interests	 (211,695)	 (1,171)
		  	

	 (246,584)	 5,334
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		  2010	 2009
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Fixed assets	 19	 13,984	 19,792
Intangible assets	 20	 1,011,586	 1,321
		  	

		  1,025,570	 21,113
		  	

Current assets
Properties held for resale	 22	 11,000	 9,300
Inventories	 23	 16,204	 40,475
Trade receivables	 24	 25,754	 45,002
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits	 25	 57,358	 88,252
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 26	 –	 12,296
Pledged bank deposits	 27	 6,286	 284
Bank and cash balances	 27	 112,124	 163,397
		  	

		  228,726	 359,006
		  	

Current liabilities
Agency fee payables – current portion	 20	 494,202	 –
Trade and bills payables	 28	 21,632	 25,928
Other payables and accruals	 29	 51,241	 25,225
Current tax liabilities		  2,167	 2,147
		  	

		  569,242	 53,300
		  	
		  	

Net current (liabilities)/assets		  (340,516)	 305,706
		  	

Total assets less current liabilities		  685,054	 326,819

Non-current liabilities
Agency fee payables – non current portion	 20	 595,383	 –
		  	

NET ASSETS		  89,671	 326,819
		  	

Capital and reserves
Share capital	 30	 732,777	 732,428
Other reserves	 32	 1,295,679	 1,279,675
Accumulated losses		  (1,730,628)	 (1,687,998)
		  	

Equity attributable to owners of the Company		  297,828	 324,105

Non-controlling interests		  (208,157)	 2,714
		  	

TOTAL EQUITY		  89,671	 326,819
		  	

	
Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2011.

	N i Xinguang	 Wang Zhiming
	 Director	 Director
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		  2010	 2009
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Fixed assets	 19	 48	 59
Interests in subsidiaries	 21	 22,963	 222,242
		  	

		  23,011	 222,301
		  	

Current assets
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits	 25	 280	 331
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 26	 –	 12,266
Bank and cash balances		  71,863	 69,387
		  	

		  72,143	 81,984
		  	

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals	 29	 3,239	 2,780
		  	
		  	

Net current assets		  68,904	 79,204
		  	

NET ASSETS		  91,915	 301,505
		  	

Capital and reserves
Share capital	 30	 732,777	 732,428
Other reserves	 32	 1,250,727	 1,242,201
Accumulated losses		  (1,891,589)	 (1,673,124)
		  	

TOTAL EQUITY		  91,915	 301,505
		  	

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2011.

	N i Xinguang	 Wang Zhiming
	 Director	 Director
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	A ttributable to owners of the Company
	

					N     on-
	S hare	O ther	A ccumulated		  controlling	T otal
	 capital	 reserves	 losses	T otal	 interests	 equity
	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

At 1 January 2009	 732,428	 1,277,872	 (1,694,198)	 316,102	 723	 316,825
	 	 	 	 	 	

						    
Total comprehensive income 
  for the year	 –	 305	 6,200	 6,505	 (1,171)	 5,334
Business combination	 –	 –	 –	 –	 130	 130
Capital contribution from
  non-controlling shareholders	 –	 –	 –	 –	 2,009	 2,009
Deemed disposal of
  a subsidiary	 –	 –	 –	 –	 1,023	 1,023
Recognition of share-based
  payments	 –	 1,498	 –	 1,498	 –	 1,498
	 	 	 	 	 	

						    
Change in equity for the year	 –	 1,803	 6,200	 8,003	 1,991	 9,994
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009	 732,428	 1,279,675	 (1,687,998)	 324,105	 2,714	 326,819
	 	 	 	 	 	

						    
At 1 January 2010	 732,428	 1,279,675	 (1,687,998)	 324,105	 2,714	 326,819
	 	 	 	 	 	

						    
Total comprehensive income 
  for the year	 –	 7,478	 (42,367)	 (34,889)	 (211,695)	 (246,584)
Issue of shares on share
  option scheme (Note 30)	 349	 150	 –	 499	 –	 499
Loss on partial disposal of
  a subsidiary (Note 33)	 –	 –	 (263)	 (263)	 824	 561
Recognition of share-based
  payments	 –	 8,376	 –	 8,376	 –	 8,376
	 	 	 	 	 	

						    
Change in equity for the year	 349	 16,004	 (42,630)	 (26,277)	 (210,871)	 (237,148)
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 732,777	 1,295,679	 (1,730,628)	 297,828	 (208,157)	 89,671
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		  2010	 2009
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax		  (249,446)	 (9,790)
Adjustments for:
  Finance costs		  38,374	 –
  Interest income		  (828)	 (2,541)
  Depreciation		  6,844	 4,635
  Share-based payments		  8,376	 1,498
  Reversal of write down of properties held for resale		  (1,700)	 (600)
  Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for inventories		  8,433	 (6,609)
  Allowance for other receivables		  1,173	 288
  Allowance for trade receivables		  5,746	 2,503
  Amortisation of intangible assets		  453,541	 251
  Bad debts written off		  437	 –
  Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value
    through profit or loss		  (686)	 255
  Fixed assets written off 		  14	 18
  Gain on bargain purchase		  –	 (581)
  Inventories written off		  196	 –
  Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary		  –	 1,023
  Loss on disposals of fixed assets		  –	 16
  Write back of other payables and accruals		  (567)	 (745)
  Write back of trade payables		  (480)	 –
  Reversal of allowance for trade receivables		  (156)	 (2,038)
  Impairment loss on fixed assets		  158	 203
  Impairment loss on intangible asset		  666	 –
  Impairment loss on prepayments and deposits		  12,282	 129
		  	

		
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes		  282,377	 (12,085)
  Decrease/(increase) in inventories		  15,642	 (24,271)
  Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, 
    other receivables, prepayments and deposits		  30,660	 (54,079)
  Increase in trade and bills payables, other payables
    and accruals		  22,767	 13,977
  Decrease in agency fee payables		  (414,971)	 –
		  	

Cash used in operations		  (63,525)	 (76,458)
  Tax paid		  (103)	 (166)
		  	

Net cash used in operating activities		  (63,628)	 (76,624)
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		  2010	 2009
	 Note	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Cash flows from investing activities
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits		  (6,002)	 9,015
Payment for purchase of fixed assets		  (675)	 (5,322)
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets		  –	 15
Purchase of financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss		  –	 (200)	
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss		  12,982	 11,421	
Interest received		  828	 2,541	
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries		  –	 3,021
		  	

Net cash generated from investing activities		  7,133	 20,491
		  	

Cash flows from financing activities		
Capital contribution from non-controlling shareholders		  –	 2,009
Proceeds from issue of shares		  499	 –
Net cash inflow from partial disposal of a subsidiary	 33	 561	 –
		  	

Net cash generated from financing activities		  1,060	 2,009
		  	
		  	

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		  (55,435)	 (54,124)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes		  4,162	 408

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January		  163,397	 217,113
		  	

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December		  112,124	 163,397
		  	

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances		  112,124	 163,397
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1.	 General Information
The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability under the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. The address of its registered and business office is Suite 1206, 12/F, 
Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed 
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its major subsidiaries 
are set out in Note 21 to the financial statements.

2.	 Going Concern Basis
The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 
HK$42,367,000 for the year ended 31 December 2010 and as at 31 December 2010 the 
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$340,516,000. After taking into account 
the agency fee payables and TV commercial contracts on hand, the management believed that 
the Group would have sufficient resources to meet its obligation in the event of default on its 
part (Note 20). The directors also prepared the profit and cashflow forecast and there was 
no indication of significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
directors are therefore of the opinion that these financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

3.	 Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 
2010. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did 
not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s 
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior years except as stated 
below.

Consolidation
HKAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” contains the following 
requirements:

–	 Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. The previous HKAS 27 requires excess losses to be allocated to the owners of 
the Company, except to the extent that the non-controlling shareholders have a binding 
obligation and are able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

–	 Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners). Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received shall be 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. The previous 
HKAS 27 does not have specific requirements for such transactions.

–	 When the disposal of a subsidiary results in a loss of control, the consideration of the 
sale and any investment retained in that subsidiary are required to be measured at their 
fair values. The previous HKAS 27 does not have specific requirements for such fair value 
measurements.
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3.	 Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards  
(Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)
The above requirements of HKAS 27 (Revised) has been applied prospectively from 1 January 
2010 and resulted in changes in the consolidated amounts reported in the financial statements 
as follows:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Decrease in other operating expenses	 263	 –
Decrease in loss for the year attributable to 
  owners of the Company	 205,281	 –
Increase in loss for the year attributable to 
  non-controlling interests	 205,018	 –
Decrease in loss per share (HK cents)	 2.80	 –

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The 
Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet 
in a position to state whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of 
operations and financial position.

4.	 Significant Accounting Policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting 
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key 
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process 
of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial statements, are disclosed in Note 5 
to the financial statements.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36

CHINA SEVEN STAR SHOPPING LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2010

4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are 
set out below.

(a)	 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has 
control. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that 
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group 
has control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents 
the difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value 
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets 
of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related 
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within 
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated income statement and 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total 
comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of 
the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests 
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the 
owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position the investments in subsidiaries are stated at 
cost less allowance for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by 
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(b)	 Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business 
combination. The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the 
assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are 
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in 
the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net fair value of the 
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the 
Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of 
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which 
is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the 
subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to 
calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary were 
recognised in other comprehensive income (for example, available-for-sale investment), the 
amount that was recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis 
as would be required if the previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is 
the same as that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy (w) below. Impairment 
losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently 
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at the non-controlling 
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets 
and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(c)	 Foreign currency translation

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong 
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial 
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the 
end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive 
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in 
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

(iii)	 Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency 
different from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s 
presentation currency as follows:

–	 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are 
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

–	 Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction 
dates); and

–	 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation 
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment 
in foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation 
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in 
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(d)	 Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are 
incurred.

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their 
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual 
rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements	 Over the lease term and
	 certain leasehold improvements revised
	 to 2 years since 1 January 2010
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment	 20%
Call centre system	 20%
Plant and equipment	 20%
Motor vehicles	 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets is the difference between the net sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

(e)	 Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of assets are accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

(f)	 Intangible assets
Internet platform
The internet platform is stated at acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment loss. It is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 
years.

Insurance agency licence
The insurance agency licence is stated at acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment loss. It is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 
years.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(f)	 Intangible assets (Continued)

Exclusive advertising agency right
Exclusive advertising agency right comprises the right to sell the advertising resources of 
television channel in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on a sole agency basis. The 
Group is contracted to make pre-agreed periodic payments during the sole agency period.

The cost of the exclusive advertising agency right representing net present value of those 
pre-agreed periodic payments constitutes a contractual obligation to deliver cash or 
other monetary assets and hence are considered to be a financial liability. The exclusive 
advertising agency right is amortised on a straight-line basis from the effective date of the 
right over the sole agency period and is stated at cost net of accumulated amortisation 
and impairment loss, if any. Interest accreted on the present value of pre-agreed periodic 
payments is charged to the consolidated income statement within finance costs.

(g)	 Properties held for resale
Properties held for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of 
properties include acquisition costs and other direct costs attributable to such properties. Net 
realisable value is determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the reporting 
period less selling expenses, or by estimates based on prevailing market condition.

(h)	 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined 
using the first-in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct 
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where 
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

(i)	 Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from 
the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition of 
a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.



2 0 1 0  A NNU   A L  REPORT    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

41

4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(j)	 Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase 
or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment 
within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair 
value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either investments classified as held 
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These 
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
fair value of these investments are recognised in profit or loss.

(k)	 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is 
the difference between the receivables’ carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. The 
amount of the allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised in profit or loss when 
an increase in the receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying 
amount of the receivables at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(l)	 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at 
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a 
component of cash and cash equivalents.

(m)	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of 
the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting 
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(n)	 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(o)	 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be 
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(p)	 Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

(q)	 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is 
recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenues from the sales of goods are recognised on the transfer of significant risks and 
rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are 
delivered and the title has passed to the customers.

Revenue from media management services, insurance agency services and television 
advertising services are recognised when the services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(r)	 Employee benefits
(i)	 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they 
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave 
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time 
of leave.

(ii)	 Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to 
all employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated 
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost 
charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(r)	 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)	 Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably 
commits itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary 
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal.

(s)	 Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors, employees and 
consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are measured at fair value 
(excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the 
date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based 
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based 
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of the 
services rendered or if the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, 
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the 
Group receives the services and recognised as expense.

(t)	 Government subsidy
A government subsidy is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will 
comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the subsidy will be received.

Government subsidy that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future 
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

(u)	 Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 
profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax 
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(u)	 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on 
investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit 
or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis.

(v)	 Related parties
A party is related to the Group if:

(i)	 directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled 
by, or is under common control with, the Group; has an interest in the Group that gives 
it significant influence over the Group; or has joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 the party is an associate;

(iii)	 the party is a joint venture;

(iv)	 the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or its parent;

(v)	 the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi)	 the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or 
for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any 
individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii)	 the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, 
or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.
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4.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(w)	 Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
tangible and intangible assets except goodwill, investments, inventories and receivables 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

(x)	 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at 
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also 
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(y)	 Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s 
position at the end of the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern 
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial 
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements when material.
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5.	 Critical Judgements and Key Estimates
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following 
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements (apart from those involving estimation, which are dealt with below).

Going concern basis
The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 
HK$42,367,000 for the year ended 31 December 2010 and as at 31 December 2010 the 
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$340,516,000. After taking into account 
the agency fee payables and TV commercial contracts on hand, the management believed that 
the Group would have sufficient resources to meet its obligation in the event of default on its 
part (Note 20). The directors also prepared the profit and cashflow forecast and there was 
no indication of significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
directors are therefore of the opinion that these financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)	 Fixed assets and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation 
charges for the Group’s fixed assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of 
the actual useful lives and residual values of fixed assets of similar nature and functions. The 
Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are different 
to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b)	 Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant estimates are 
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course 
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax in the period in which 
such determination is made.

(c)	 Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts based on assessments of the 
recoverability of the trade and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness, the 
past collection history of each debtor and on management’s judgement. Impairments arise 
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. 
The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. 
Where the actual result is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact 
the carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the 
year in which such estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors 
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional 
allowances may be required.
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5.	 Critical Judgements and Key Estimates (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(d)	 Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the aging and estimated net 
realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement 
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate, 
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based 
on the current market condition and the historical experience of selling products of similar 
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor 
actions in response to serve industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by the 
end of each reporting period.

(e)	 Impairment of exclusive advertising agency right
The Group tests annually whether the exclusive advertising agency right has suffered any 
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. The recoverable amounts 
have been determined based on fair value less costs to sell calculations. These calculations 
require the use of estimates. In determining the fair value less costs to sell, expected cash 
flows generated by the right are discounted to their present value, which requires significant 
judgement relating to the level of volume of air time being sold, selling price and amount of 
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount 
that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on 
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of sales volume, selling price and 
operating costs. Had the actual results been different from the management’s estimate, the 
exclusive advertising agency rights might result in impairment.
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6.	 Financial Risk Management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, 
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

(a)	 Foreign currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, 
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currency of the Group 
entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect 
of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign 
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise.

(b)	 Credit risk
The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances and trade and other receivables 
included in the statement of financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

In order to minimise credit risk, the directors have delegated a team to be responsible for the 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures. In addition, 
the directors review the recoverable amount of each individual debt regularly to ensure 
that adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the 
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited because the counter parties are banks 
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(c)	 Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to 
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the 
short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

	 Less than 	 Between	 Between
	 1 year	  1 and 2 years	  2 and 5 years	 Over 5 years
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 31 December 2010
Trade and bills payables	 21,632	 –	 –	 –
Other payables and accruals	 51,241	 –	 –	 –
Agency fee payables	 522,689	 606,036	 –	 –

At 31 December 2009
Trade payables	 25,928	 –	 –	 –
Other payables and accruals	 25,225	 –	 –	 –
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6.	 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(d)	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank deposits and agency fee 
payables. A bank deposit bears interest at fixed interest rate and therefore is subject to fair 
value interest rate risk. Others bank deposits bear interests at variable interest rates varied 
with the then prevailing market condition. The agency fee payables bear interest at fixed 
interest rate and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risk.

Except as stated above, the Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets and 
liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates.

(e)	 Categories of financial instruments at 31 December 2010
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit
  or loss – held for trading	 –	 12,296
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)	 154,538	 228,154

		  	

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost	 1,162,458	 51,153

		  	

(f)	 Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in 
the consolidated statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy which has 3 
levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2010:

	F air value measurement using:	T otal
Description	L evel 1	L evel 2	L evel 3	 2010
	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

Financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss	 –	 –	 –	 –
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6.	 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(f)	 Fair values (Continued)

	 Fair value measurement using:	 Total
Description	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss
    Debt securities	 12,266	 –	 –	 12,266
    Equity securities	 30	 –	 –	 30
	 	 	 	

Total	 12,296	 –	 –	 12,296
	 	 	 	 	

7.	 Capital Risk Management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt 
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new 
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

8.	 Turnover
The Group’s turnover which represents sales of consumer products to customers, media 
management service fees, television advertising service income, insurance agency service income 
and rental income from properties are as follows:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Retail and distribution of consumer products	 196,912	 433,713
Media management service fees	 –	 25,297
Television advertising service income	 367,580	 –
Insurance agency service income	 14,653	 9,198
Rental income	 940	 915
		  	

	 580,085	 469,123
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9.	 Other Income
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Interest income	 828	 2,541
Commission income from television advertising services	 37,279	 –
Exchange gains	 154	 –
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss	 686	 –
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables	 156	 2,038
PRC tax subsidy	 1,148	 3,522
Write back of other payables and accruals	 567	 745
Write back of trade payables	 480	 –
Sundry income	 1,631	 1,827
		  	

	 42,929	 10,673
		  	

10.	Segment Information
The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

PRC retail and	 –	 retail and distribution of consumer products as well as the 
  distribution		    provision of media management services in the PRC

Television advertising	 –	 provision of television advertising services in the PRC

Property investment	 –	 property holding and investment in Hong Kong

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and 
services. They are managed separately because each business requires different marketing 
strategies.

The Group’s other operating segments include the insurance agency service business, which 
earns insurance agency service income. None of these segments meets any of the quantitative 
thresholds for determining reportable segments. The information of these other operating segments 
is included in the ‘others’ column.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the Note 
4 to the financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not include interest income, fair value 
gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, gain on bargain purchase, 
loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary, corporate income and corporate expenses. Segment 
assets do not include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and corporate assets. 
Segment liabilities do not include corporate liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or tranfers were to third 
parties, i.e. at current market prices.
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10.	Segment Information (Continued)
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

	 PRC retail	 Television	 Property
	 and distribution	 advertising	 investment	 Others	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2010

Revenue from external customers	 196,912	 367,580	 940	 14,653	 580,085
	 	 	 	 	

Intersegment revenue	 –	 32,448	 –	 –	 32,448
	 	 	 	 	

Segment profit/(loss)	 (133,150)	 (100,468)	 2,142	 (66)	 (231,542)
	 	 	 	 	

Interest revenue	 306	 39	 –	 49	 394

Interest expense	 –	 38,374	 –	 –	 38,374

Income tax expense	 21	 8	 –	 21	 50

Depreciation and amortisation	 6,990	 453,240	 –	 121	 460,351

Reversal of bad debts/impairment charges	 156	 –	 –	 –	 156

Bad debts/impairment charges	 29,091	 –	 –	 –	 29,091

Write back of trade and other payables 
  and accruals	 1,047	 –	 –	 –	 1,047

Reversal of write down of properties
  held for resale	 –	 –	 1,700	 –	 1,700

Fixed assets written off	 –	 –	 –	 14	 14

Additions to segment non-current assets	 489	 1,428,176	 –	 3	 1,428,668

At 31 December 2010

Segment assets	 136,628	 1,097,886	 11,133	 21,840	 1,267,487
	 	 	 	 	

Segment liabilities	 48,304	 1,199,565	 326	 983	 1,249,178
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10.	Segment Information (Continued)
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities: (Continued)

	 PRC retail	 Property
	 and distribution	 investment	 Others	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2009

Revenue from external customers	 459,010	 915	 9,198	 469,123
	 	 	 	

Segment profit/(loss)	 (947)	 1,067	 357	 477
	 	 	 	

Interest revenue	 760	 –	 25	 785

Interest expense	 –	 –	 –	 –

Income tax credit/(expense)	 14,871	 –	 (52)	 14,819

Depreciation and amortisation	 4,802	 –	 49	 4,851

Reversal of bad debts/impairment charges	 8,647	 –	 –	 8,647

Bad debts/impairment charges	 3,123	 –	 –	 3,123

Write back of other payables and accruals	 705	 –	 –	 705

Reversal of write down of properties
  held for resale	 –	 600	 –	 600

Loss on disposals of fixed assets	 16	 –	 –	 16

Fixed assets written off	 18	 –	 –	 18

Additions to segment non-current assets	 5,294	 –	 482	 5,776

At 31 December 2009

Segment assets	 266,596	 9,433	 21,847	 297,876
	 	 	 	

Segment liabilities	 46,806	 309	 1,608	 48,723
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10.	Segment Information (Continued)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Revenue
Total revenue of reportable segments	 612,533	 469,123
Elimination of intersegment revenue	 (32,448)	 –
		  	

Consolidated revenue	 580,085	 469,123
		  	

Profit or loss
Total profit or loss of reportable segments	 (231,542)	 477
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss	 686	 (255)
Interest revenue	 828	 2,541
Gain on bargain purchase	 –	 581
Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary	 –	 (1,023)
Unallocated corporate income	 154	 42
Unallocated corporate expenses	 (19,572)	 (12,153)
		  	

Loss before tax	 (249,446)	 (9,790)
		  	

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments	 1,267,487	 297,876
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 –	 12,296
Corporate assets	 74,601	 70,297
Elimination of intersegment assets	 (87,792)	 (350)
		  	

Consolidated total assets	 1,254,296	 380,119
		  	

Liabilities
Total liabilities of reportable segments	 1,249,178	 48,723
Corporate liabilities	 3,239	 4,927
Elimination of intersegment liabilities	 (87,792)	 (350)	
		  	

Consolidated total liabilities	 1,164,625	 53,300
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10.	Segment Information (Continued)
Geographical information:

	R evenue	N on-current assets
	 	 	

	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Hong Kong	 940	 915	 48	 59
The PRC except Hong Kong	 579,145	 468,208	 1,025,522	 21,054
	 	 	 	

Consolidated total	 580,085	 469,123	 1,025,570	 21,113
	 	 	 	

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the locations of the customers.

Revenue from major customer:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Television advertising segment
  Customer a	 110,710	 –
		  	

11.	Finance Costs
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Notional non-cash interest accretion on pre-agreed periodic
  payments on exclusive advertising agency right	 38,374	 –
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12.	Income Tax Expense/(Credit)
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

PRC tax
  – current	 50	 458
  – overprovision in prior years	 –	 (15,277)
		  	

	 50	 (14,819)
		  	

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the Group did not generate any 
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year (2009: HK$Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in the PRC have been provided at the applicable rates of tax in the 
PRC in which the subsidiaries operate, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices 
in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense/(credit) and the product of loss before tax 
multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Loss before tax	 (249,446)	 (9,790)
		  	

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%)	 (41,158)	 (1,615)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable	 (1,345)	 (4,471)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible	 19,268	 11,515
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary differences	 20,367	 (3,685)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in
  other jurisdictions	 (19,829)	 (65)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised	 22,747	 1,874
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised	 –	 (3,095)
Overprovision in prior years	 –	 (15,277)
		  	

Income tax expense/(credit)	 50	 (14,819)
		  	

At the end of the reporting period the Group and the Company has unused tax losses of 
approximately HK$130,232,000 (2009: HK$36,441,000) and HK$3,739,000 (2009: 
HK$3,739,000) respectively available for offset against future profits. During the year, no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The 
unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$1,744,000, HK$14,802,000, HK$7,342,000 
and HK$92,587,000 will expire on 31 December 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. 
Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. Included in unused tax losses of the Group 
are losses of approximately HK$118,770,000 (2009: HK$24,978,000) that have not yet been 
agreed by respective tax authorities.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made for both years ended 31 December 2009 
and 2010 as the tax effect of all other temporary difference is not material.
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13.	(Loss)/Profit for the Year
The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Advertising costs	 69,106	 100,949
Allowance for trade receivables
  (included in other operating expenses)	 5,746	 2,503
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) for inventories
  (included in cost of inventories sold)	 8,433	 (6,609)
Allowance for other receivables
  (included in other operating expenses)	 1,173	 288
Amortisation of exclusive advertising agency right
  (included in cost of sales and services)	 453,223	 –
Amortisation of internet platform and insurance agency licence
  (included in other operating expenses)	 318	 251
Auditor’s remuneration	 1,700	 1,450
Bad debts written off (included in other operating expenses)	 437	 –
Cost of inventories sold	 142,834	 253,256
Depreciation	 6,844	 4,635
Direct operating expenses that generate rental income	 432	 422
Exchange differences, net	 (154)	 179
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss	 (686)	 255
Fixed assets written off	 14	 18
Impairment loss on fixed assets
  (included in other operating expenses)	 158	 203
Impairment loss on intangible asset
  (included in other operating expenses)	 666	 –
Impairment loss on prepayments and deposits
  (included in other operating expenses)	 12,282	 129
Inventories written off (included in cost of inventories sold)	 196	 –
Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary
  (included in other operating expenses)	 –	 1,023
Loss on disposals of fixed assets	 –	 16
Operating lease charges
  – Hire of plant and equipment	 1,914	 –
  – Land and buildings	 8,240	 6,568
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (Note 14)	 41,612	 38,351
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14.	Staff Costs (Including Directors’ Emoluments)
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances	 37,340	 33,809
Equity-settled share-based payments	 150	 1,033
Retirement benefits scheme contributions	 4,122	 3,509
		  	

	 41,612	 38,351
		  	

15.	Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments
(a)	 Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of each director were as follows:

						R      etirement	 Compensation
						      benefit	 for loss of
			   Discretionary	 Inducement	O ther	 scheme	 office as	S hare-based
Name of director	F ees	S alary	 bonuses	 fees	 benefits	 contributions	 director	 payments	T otal
	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

Mr. Ni Xinguang	 –	 960	 –	 –	 –	 12	 –	 –	 972
Mr. Wang Zhiming	 –	 792	 –	 –	 –	 12	 –	 –	 804
Mr. Chan Wai Sum	 180	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 180
Mr. Ho Wai Ip (Note)	 180	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 180
Mr. Lu Wei	 180	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 180
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total for 2010	 540	 1,752	 –	 –	 –	 24	 –	 –	 2,316
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

						      Retirement	 Compensation
						      benefit	 for loss of
			   Discretionary	 Inducement	 Other	 scheme	 office as	 Share-based
Name of director	 Fees	 Salary	 bonuses	 fees	 benefits	 contributions	 director	 payments	 Total
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Mr. Ni Xinguang	 –	 936	 –	 –	 –	 12	 –	 –	 948
Mr. Wang Zhiming	 –	 763	 –	 –	 –	 12	 –	 –	 775
Mr. Chan Wai Sum	 176	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 176
Mr. Ho Wai Ip	 176	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 176
Mr. Lu Wei	 176	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 176
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Total for 2009	 528	 1,699	 –	 –	 –	 24	 –	 –	 2,251
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Note:	 Resigned on 31 January 2011.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any 
emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2010.
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15.	Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments (Continued)
(b)	 Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included 2 (2009: 2) 
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments 
of the remaining 3 (2009: 3) individuals are set out below:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances	 2,099	 2,044
Equity-settled share-based payments	 150	 1,033
Retirement benefit scheme contributions	 35	 33
		  	

	 2,284	 3,110
		  	

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
		

	 2010	 2009

HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000	 2	 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000	 1	 2
Over HK$1,500,000	 –	 –	
		  	

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid 
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss 
of office.
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16.(Loss)/Profit for the Year attributable to Owners of the Company
The (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company included a loss of 
approximately HK$218,465,000 (2009: profit of approximately HK$12,373,000) which has 
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

17.	Dividend
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2010 (2009: HK$Nil).

18.	(Loss)/Earnings Per Share
Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The calculation of basic loss (2009: earnings) per share attributable to owners of the Company 
is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 
HK$42,367,000 (2009: profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 
HK$6,200,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 7,326,518,000 
(2009: 7,324,281,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
The effect of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for the year ended 31 December 
2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the calculation of diluted earnings per share 
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners 
of the Company of approximately HK$6,200,000 and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares of 7,324,630,000, being the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
7,324,281,000 in issue during the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation plus 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 349,000 assumed to have been issued at 
no consideration on the deemed exercise of the share options outstanding during the year.
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19.	Fixed Assets
	T he Group
		F  urniture,
		  fixtures
	L easehold	 and office	 Call centre	P lant and	M otor
	 improvements	 equipment	 system	 equipment	 vehicles	T otal
	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2009	 8,042	 11,996	 4,917	 54	 3,931	 28,940
Additions	 387	 1,031	 189	 –	 3,715	 5,322
Acquisition of a subsidiary	 –	 18	 –	 –	 36	 54
Disposals/write-off	 –	 (34)	 –	 –	 (69)	 (103)
Exchange differences	 14	 22	 9	 –	 10	 55
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009
  and 1 January 2010	 8,443	 13,033	 5,115	 54	 7,623	 34,268
Additions	 238	 437	 –	 –	 –	 675
Write-off	 –	 (775)	 (1,129)	 (56)	 (73)	 (2,033)
Exchange differences	 281	 431	 150	 2	 260	 1,124
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 8,962	 13,126	 4,136	 –	 7,810	 34,034
	 	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment
At 1 January 2009	 1,448	 4,346	 2,779	 54	 1,045	 9,672
Charge for the year	 961	 2,038	 504	 –	 1,132	 4,635
Disposals/write-off	 –	 (16)	 –	 –	 (38)	 (54)
Impairment loss	 –	 174	 –	 –	 29	 203
Exchange differences	 3	 9	 5	 –	 3	 20
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009
  and 1 January 2010	 2,412	 6,551	 3,288	 54	 2,171	 14,476
Charge for the year	 2,939	 2,052	 520	 –	 1,333	 6,844
Write-off	 –	 (774)	 (1,129)	 (56)	 (60)	 (2,019)
Impairment loss	 –	 –	 158	 –	 –	 158
Exchange differences	 135	 248	 102	 2	 104	 591
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 5,486	 8,077	 2,939	 –	 3,548	 20,050
	 	 	 	 	 	

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010	 3,476	 5,049	 1,197	 –	 4,262	 13,984
	 	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009	 6,031	 6,482	 1,827	 –	 5,452	 19,792
	 	 	 	 	 	

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its fixed assets in 2009 and 2010, 
having regard to its closure of a call centre and an office in the PRC. These assets are used 
in the Group’s PRC retail and distribution segment. The reviews led to the recognition of an 
impairment loss of HK$158,000 (2009: HK$203,000), that has been recognised in profit or 
loss.

During the year the Group changed the estimated useful lives of certain leasehold improvements 
from over the lease term to 2 years. As a result of this change in accounting estimate, the 
depreciation charge increased by approximately HK$1,880,000 for the year and will also 
increase by approximately HK$1,880,000 for the following year.
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19.	Fixed Assets (Continued)
	T he Company
	L easehold	O ffice	
	 improvements	 equipment	T otal
	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

Cost
1 January 2009	 387	 237	 624
Additions	 21	 –	 21
	 	 	

	
At 31 December 2009 and
  1 January 2010	 408	 237	 645
Additions	 –	 23	 23
	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 408	 260	 668
	 	 	

Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2009	 387	 164	 551
Charge for the year	 9	 26	 35
	 	 	

	
At 31 December 2009 and
  1 January 2010	 396	 190	 586
Charge for the year	 12	 22	 34
	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 408	 212	 620
	 	 	

	
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010	 –	 48	 48
	 	 	

At 31 December 2009	 12	 47	 59
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20.	Intangible Assets
	 The Group
			E   xclusive
		  Insurance	 advertising
	 Internet	 agency	 agency
	 platform	  licence	  right	T otal
	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2009	 1,095	 –	 –	 1,095
Acquired in a business combination	 –	 475	 –	 475
Exchange differences	 2	 –	 –	 2
	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010	 1,097	 475	 –	 1,572
Additions	 –	 –	 1,428,016	 1,428,016
Exchange differences	 38	 16	 46,689	 46,743
	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 1,135	 491	 1,474,705	 1,476,331
	 	 	 	

Accumulated amortisation
  and impairment
At 1 January 2009	 –	 –	 –	 –
Amortisation for the year	 219	 32	 –	 251
	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010	 219	 32	 –	 251
Amortisation for the year	 222	 96	 453,223	 453,541
Impairment loss	 666	 –	 –	 666
Exchange differences	 28	 3	 10,256	 10,287
	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2010	 1,135	 131	 463,479	 464,745
	 	 	 	

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010	 –	 360	 1,011,226	 1,011,586
	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009	 878	 443	 –	 1,321
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20.	Intangible Assets (Continued)
Internet platform and insurance licence
The Group’s internet platform is used for its distribution of consumer products. The Group’s 
insurance agency license is for its provision of insurance agency services. The average remaining 
amortisation period of the abovementioned intangible assets is 3.67 years (2009: 4.34 years).

The Group carried out review of the recoverable amount of its internet platform in 2010, having 
regard to change of business model of the Group. The internet platform is used in the Group’s 
PRC retail and distribution segment. The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss of 
HK$666,000 that has been recognised in profit or loss.

Exclusive advertising agency right
The Group considered the exclusive advertising agency right to be an intangible asset 
representing the right to sell advertising resources. The present value of pre-agreed periodic 
payments to be made in subsequent years were capitalised and accounted for as intangible 
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position, and those pre-agreed periodic 
payments constitute a contractual obligation to deliver cash and hence were considered to be a 
financial liability. The exclusive advertising agency right is amortised on a straight-line basis from 
the effective date of the right over the remaining license period and is stated net of accumulated 
amortisation. Interest accreted on the present value of pre-agreed periodic payments is charged 
to the consolidated income statement within finance costs.

In the event of termination of the exclusive advertising agency contract by either party to contract, 
the cancelling or default party will be responsible for a compensation amounted to 10% of the 
unfulfilled contract sum for the year of default as well as an amount equals to the deposit on 
account for the contract. At 31 December 2010, a deposit of approximately HK$35,000,000 
relating to the exclusive advertising agency contract has been included in other receivables, 
prepayments and deposits, and the maximum compensation computed for each of the financial 
years of 2011 and 2012 were approximately HK$52,000,000 and HK$61,000,000 
respectively. The management believes that the Group would have sufficient resources to meet its 
obligation in the event of default on its part.

The interest for agency fee payables is calculated by applying an effective rate of 3.2866% 
for the 35 month period since the effective date of the exclusive advertising agency right on 1 
February 2010.

The maturity date of agency fee payables is on 31 December 2012.
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21.	Interests in Subsidiaries
	 The Company
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Unlisted investments, at cost	 277,066	 277,066
Loans to subsidiaries	 1,162,181	 1,159,647
		  	

	 1,439,247	 1,436,713
Less: impairment losses	 (1,416,284)	 (1,214,471)
		  	

	 22,963	 222,242
		  	

The loans to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and will not be repayable within the next 
twelve months.

Details of subsidiaries which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, materially 
contributed to the results of the Group or held a material portion of assets or liabilities of the 
Group are set out below. To give full details of subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors 
of the Company, result in particular of excessive length.

	P lace of		P  ercentage of
	 incorporation/		  ownership
	 registration,	 Issued	 interest/
	 operation and	 share capital/	 voting power/	
Name	 kind of legal entity	 registered capital	 profit sharing	P rincipal activities
			   Direct	 Indirect

Cheong Wa Limited	 Hong Kong,	 6,100 ordinary shares	 100%	 –	 Investment holding
	   limited liability company	   of HK$1 each

Marson Development Limited	 Hong Kong,	 2 ordinary shares	 100%	 –	 Property Investment
  	   limited liability company	   of HK$1 each	

Top Pro Limited	 The British Virgin Islands,	 1 ordinary share	 100%	 –	 Investment holding
  	   limited liability company	   of US$1	

Fuzhou Landun Science of Life	 The PRC,	 HK$40,000,000	 –	 100%	 Investment holding
  Co., Ltd	   wholly-foreign owned
	   enterprise with limited
	   liability

Fuzhou Shenxing	 The PRC,	 RMB500,000	 –	 100%	 Investment holding
  Network Information	   limited liability company
  Consultant Service
  Co., Ltd.^,#
  福州盛星網絡信息
  諮詢服務有限公司
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21.	Interests in Subsidiaries (Continued)

	P lace of		P  ercentage of
	 incorporation/		  ownership
	 registration,	 Issued	 interest/
	 operation and	 share capital/	 voting power/	
Name	 kind of legal entity	 registered capital	 profit sharing	P rincipal activities
			   Direct	 Indirect

Fuzhou Jiaxi Media Co., Ltd.^	 The PRC,	 RMB3,000,000	 –	 46%	 Retail and wholesale
  福州家禧傳媒有限責任公司	   limited liability company			   (Note a)	   of consumer products
  (“Fuzhou Jiaxi”)
  (formerly known as Fuzhou 
  Fuxing Media Co. Ltd
  福州福星傳媒有限責任公司)	

Shanghai Cenyu Trading Co., Ltd.^	 The PRC,	 RMB500,000	 –	 96%	 Retail and wholesale
  上海岑譽商貿有限公司	   limited liability company				      of consumer products

Shanghai D-kela Jewelleries 	 The PRC,	 RMB1,000,000	 –	 99.6%	 Retail of jewelleries
  Co., Ltd.^,#	   limited liability company
  上海蒂可拉珠寶有限公司

Shanghai Jiuhou Trading Co., Ltd.^	 The PRC,	 RMB500,000	 –	 60%	 Retail and wholesale
  上海玖昊商貿有限公司	   limited liability company				      of consumer products

Shanghai Seven Star Internet	 The PRC,	 RMB1,000,000	 –	 60%	 Investment holding,
  Shopping Co., Ltd.^,#	   limited liability company				      retail and wholesale
  上海七星網絡購物有限公司					       of consumer products

Seven Star Shopping (China)	 The PRC,	 RMB360,000,000	 –	 100%	 Investment holding,
  Co., Ltd.^	   wholly-foreign owned				      retail and wholesale
  七星購物（中國）有限公司	   enterprise with limited				      of consumer products
	   liability
		  		  
Seven Star Shopping Limited	 Hong Kong,	 1 ordinary share	 –	 100%	 Investment holding
	   limited liability company	   of HK$1

Shanghai Seven Star	 The PRC,	 RMB30,000,000	 –	 96%	 Investment holding, 
  Electronic Commence	   limited liability company				      retail and wholesale
  Co., Ltd.^,#					       of consumer products
  上海七星電子商務有限公司

Shanghai Seven Star International	 The PRC,	 RMB6,000,000	 –	 100%	 Investment holding,
  Shopping Co., Ltd.^	   limited liability company			   (Note b)	   retail and wholesale
  上海七星國際購物有限公司					       of consumer products 
  (“Seven Star (Shanghai)”)					        

Shanghai Seven Star	 The PRC,	 RMB1,000,000	 –	 99.6%	 Retail and wholesale
  Marketing Co., Ltd.^,#	   limited liability company				      of consumer products 
  上海七星營銷有限公司					     



2 0 1 0  A NNU   A L  REPORT    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

67

21.	Interests in Subsidiaries (Continued)

	P lace of		P  ercentage of
	 incorporation/		  ownership
	 registration,	 Issued	 interest/
	 operation and	 share capital/	 voting power/	
Name	 kind of legal entity	 registered capital	 profit sharing	P rincipal activities
			   Direct	 Indirect

Shanghai Seven Star	 The PRC,	 RMB1,000,000	 –	 59.6%	 Provision of television
  Advertising Co., Ltd.^,#	   limited liability company				      advertising service
  上海七星廣告有限公司
  (formerly known as 
  Shanghai Seven Star Yixi 
  Advertising Co., Ltd
  上海七星益爾廣告有限公司)

Shanghai Xishiduo Hanying	 The PRC,	 RMB20,000,000	 –	 92.8%	 Retail and wholesale 
  Kitchen Ware Ltd.^,##	   Sino-foreign joint				      of kitchen wares
  上海喜世多漢英廚具有限公司	   venture with limited 
	   liability company

Shanghai Xiangsheng Insurance 	 The PRC,	 RMB20,000,000	 –	 96%	 Provision of insurance
  Agency Co., Ltd.^	   limited liability company				      agency service
  上海祥生保險代理有限公司

Shanghai Yihui	 The PRC,	 RMB500,000	 –	 96%	 Retail and wholesale
  Trading Co., Ltd.^	   limited liability company				      of consumer products
  上海逸輝商貿有限公司					     

Shanghai Yujie Trading Co., Ltd.^	 The PRC,	 RMB500,000	 –	 60%	 Retail and wholesale
  上海予捷貿易有限公司	   limited liability company				      of consumer products

^	 For identification purposes only

#	 Directly held by Seven Star (Shanghai)

##	 41.8% is directly held by Seven Star (Shanghai)

Notes:	

(a)	 Although the Group has less than 50% equity interest in Fuzhou Jiaxi, Fuzhou Jiaxi is treated as a 
subsidiary of the Group because the Group is able to control the financial and operating policies of 
Fuzhou Jiaxi.

(b)	 Although the Group does not own any equity interest in Seven Star (Shanghai), Seven Star (Shanghai) 
and its subsidiaries (“Seven Star (Shanghai) Group”) are treated as subsidiaries because the Group 
is able to control the financial and operating policies of Seven Star (Shanghai) Group as a result of 
the Structured Contracts (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 7 September 2006) 
entered into by the Group.

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities.
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22.	Properties Held for Resale
	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January	 9,300	 8,700	
Reversal of write down	 1,700	 600
		  	

At 31 December	 11,000	 9,300
		  	

An analysis of the carrying value of properties held for resale is as follows:

	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

In Hong Kong, held on:
  Leases of between 10 to 50 years	 11,000	 9,300
		  	

At 31 December 2010, the carrying value of properties held for resale that was carried at net 
realisable value amounted to HK$11,000,000 (2009: HK$9,300,000).

23.	Inventories
	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Finished goods	 16,204	 40,475
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24.	Trade Receivables
The Group’s turnover included sales of consumer products, service income and rental income. 
The payment terms of the sales to retail customers in the PRC retail and distribution segment are 
on cash-on-delivery basis to the logistic providers who received on the Group’s behalf upon 
delivery of goods and reimburse the fund so collected within 15 to 60 days. The payment terms 
of the sales to distributors in the PRC retail and distribution segment are normally from 30 to 
180 days. For television advertising business, the Group generally requires customers to pay in 
advance, but grants a credit period of 30 to 90 days to some customers. The payment terms of 
media management services and insurance agency services provided are normally at 30 days. 
The rental income is paid in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements, which is 
normally due on the first day of the month.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as 
follows:

	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

0 – 90 days	 19,676	 41,179
91 – 180 days	 2,898	 2,830
181 – 365 days	 3,144	 912
Over 365 days	 36	 81
	 	

	 25,754	 45,002
	 	

At 31 December 2010, an allowance was made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables 
of approximately HK$43,714,000 (2009: HK$37,928,000).

Reconciliation of the allowance for trade receivables:

	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

At 1 January	 37,928	 37,363
Allowance for the year	 5,746	 2,503
Amounts reversed	 (156)	 (2,038)
Amounts written off	 (1,204)	 –
Exchange differences	 1,400	 100
	 	

At 31 December	 43,714	 37,928
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24.	Trade Receivables (Continued)
At 31 December 2010, trade receivables of approximately HK$5,599,000 (2009: 
HK$3,823,000) were overdue but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent 
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows:

	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Up to 6 months	 5,239	 3,742
Over 6 months	 360	 81
	 	

	 5,599	 3,823
	 	

Subsequent to 31 December 2010, the Group received cash settlement amount of about 
HK$1.6 million and HK$0.3 million for balances overdue up to 6 months and over 6 months 
respectively. For the remaining balances overdue, these relate to a number of independent 
customers that have good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management 
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not 
been significant change in credit quality and the balance are still considered fully recoverable. 
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are wholly denominated in Renminbi 
(“RMB”).

25.	Other Receivables, Prepayments and Deposits

	T he Group	T he Company
	 	 	

	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Other receivables	 10,374	 19,471	 –	 –
Prepayments and deposits (Note a)	 46,984	 68,781	 280	 331
	 	 	 	

	 57,358	 88,252	 280	 331
	 	 	 	

Notes:

(a)	 At 31 December 2009, included in the Group’s prepayments and deposits are deposits paid for setting 
up of two subsidiaries, amounted to approximately HK$1,136,000. The set up of both subsidiaries 
were completed in 2010.

(b)	 Saved as disclosed above, balances in the other receivables, prepayments and deposits are all related 
to commercial transactions undertaken in the usual course of business. None of the transactions involved 
constitutes discloseable, related party or connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.
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26. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
	T he Group	T he Company
	 	 	

	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Debt securities, at fair value
  listed outside Hong Kong	 –	 12,266	 –	 12,266
Equity securities, at fair value
  listed outside Hong Kong	 –	 30	 –	 –
	 	 	 	

Market value of listed securities	 –	 12,296	 –	 12,266
	 	 	 	

The carrying amounts of the above
  financial assets are classified
  as follows:

Held for trading	 –	 12,296	 –	 12,266
	 	 	 	

27.	Pledged Bank Deposits and Bank and Cash Balances
At 31 December 2010, the Group’s pledged bank deposits included a deposit pledged to a 
bank of approximately HK$294,000 (2009: HK$284,000) as securities for two corporate 
cards granted to two executive directors of the Group. The credit limit of both corporate cards 
is approximately HK$235,000 (2009: HK$227,000) in aggregate. The deposit is in RMB and 
bears fixed interest rate of 2.75% per annum and therefore is subject to fair value interest rate 
risk.

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s pledged bank deposits also included a deposit pledged 
to a bank of approximately HK$5,992,000 (2009: HK$Nil) to secure bill payables of 
approximately HK$5,875,000 (2009: HK$Nil) as set out in Note 28 to the financial statements. 
The deposit is in RMB and bears fixed interest rate of 2.5% per annum and therefore is subject 
to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2010, the bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB and 
kept in the PRC amounted to HK$40,079,000 (approximately RMB34,110,000) (2009: 
HK$92,927,000 (approximately RMB81,802,000)). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies 
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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28.	Trade and Bills Payables
	 The Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Trade payables (Note)	 15,757	 25,928
Bills payables (Note 27)	 5,875	 –
	 	

	 21,632	 25,928
	 	

Note:

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

	T he Group
		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

0 – 90 days	 9,590	 15,632
91 – 180 days	 1,005	 959
181 – 365 days	 1,332	 3,039
Over 365 days	 3,830	 6,298
	 	

	 15,757	 25,928
	 	

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Hong Kong dollars	 86	 69
RMB	 15,671	 25,859
	 	

Total	 15,757	 25,928
	 	

29.	Other Payables and Accruals
	T he Group	T he Company
	 	 	

	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Other payables and accruals	 31,581	 24,508	 3,239	 2,780
Deposits received	 3,376	 717	 –	 –
Receipts in advance	 16,284	 –	 –	 –
	 	 	 	

	 51,241	 25,225	 3,239	 2,780
	 	 	 	



2 0 1 0  A NNU   A L  REPORT    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

73

30.	Share Capital
		  No. of shares
		  ’000	 HK$’000

Authorised:
  Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2009: HK$0.1) each

At 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009 and 2010		 16,000,000	 1,600,000
		  	

Issued and fully paid:
  Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2009: HK$0.1) each

At 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009
  and 1 January 2010		  7,324,281	 732,428		

Issue of shares on share option scheme (Note)		  3,490	 349	
	 	

At 31 December 2010		  7,327,771	 732,777
		  	

Note:

On 12 May 2010, 3,490,000 shares of the Company were issued upon exercise of share options on 11 
May 2010 at an exercise price of HK$0.143 per share, and the premium on the issue of shares, amounting 
to approximately HK$150,000 was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

31.	Share Options
Equity-settled share option scheme
On 28 May 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new share 
option scheme (the “2004 Share Option Scheme”). The 2004 Share Option Scheme will expire 
on 27 May 2014.

2004 Share Option Scheme
Under the 2004 Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may, at their discretion, 
grant options to executives and key employees in the service of any member of the Group 
and other persons who may make a contribution to the Group subject to terms and conditions 
stipulated therein. The exercise price for any particular option shall be such price as the board 
of directors of the Company may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the 
relevant option subject to the compliance with the requirements for share option schemes under 
the Listing Rules.
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31.	Share Options (Continued)
2004 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
At 31 December 2010, the following options to subscribe for shares were outstanding under the 
2004 Share Option Scheme:

			   Number of
		E  xercise price	 outstanding
	 Date of grant	 per share	 options	E xercise period
		H  K$

Employees	 27 December 2006	 0.157	 12,660,000	 27 June 2008 – 26 June 2018 (Note a)
	 27 December 2006	 0.157	 12,660,000	 27 December 2008 – 26 December 2018 (Note a)
	 8 March 2007	 0.722	 5,000,000	 8 March 2007 – 7 March 2015
	 8 March 2007	 0.722	 5,000,000	 8 March 2008 – 7 March 2015
	 8 March 2007	 0.722	 5,000,000	 8 March 2009 – 7 March 2015
	 8 March 2007	 0.722	 5,000,000	 8 March 2010 – 7 March 2015
Consultants	 30 April 2007	 1.230	 240,000	 30 April 2008 – 29 April 2015
(Note b)	 30 April 2009	 0.100	 7,000,000	 5 May 2010 – 4 May 2017
	 10 September 2010	 0.150	 7,000,000	 10 September 2010 – 9 September 2013
	 11 November 2010	 0.160	 135,000,000	 11 November 2010 – 10 November 2013
			 

			   194,560,000
			 
Notes:

(a)	 Lapsed on 7 January 2011.

(b)	 Options granted to consultants were incentives for them to assist the Group in the expansion of its 
business network, identifying and acquiring new business projects and opportunities. The fair value of 
such benefit could not be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is measured by reference to 
the fair value of share option granted.

	

	 2010	 2009
	 Weighted		  Weighted
	 average		  average
	 exercise	N umber of	 exercise	 Number of
	 price in HK$	 share	 price in HK$	 share
	 per share	 options	 per share	 options

At 1 January	 0.355	 56,050,000	 0.392	 49,050,000
Granted during the year	 0.160	 142,000,000	 0.100	 7,000,000
Exercised during the year	 0.143	 (3,490,000)	 –	 –
	 	 	 	

	
At 31 December	 0.217	 194,560,000	 0.355	 56,050,000
	 	 	 	

There were no option cancelled in 2009 and 2010.
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31.	Share Options (Continued)
2004 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual 
life of 3.75 years (2009: 7.13 years) and the exercise prices range from HK$0.10 to HK$1.23 
(2009: HK$0.10 to HK$1.23). In 2010, 7,000,000 and 135,000,000 share options were 
granted on 10 September 2010 and 11 November 2010 respectively. The estimated fair value 
of the options on those dates are approximately HK$378,000 and HK$7,653,000 respectively. 
In 2009, 7,000,000 share options were granted on 30 April 2009. The estimated fair value of 
the options on that date was approximately HK$556,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the 
model were as follows:

	 Share options granted on
	

	 11 November	 10 September	 30 April
	 2010	 2010	 2009

Weighted average share price	 HK$0.158	H K$0.139	 HK$0.088
Exercise price	 HK$0.160	H K$0.150	 HK$0.100
Expected volatility	 76.67%	 87.93%	 116.74%
Expected life	 1.5 years	 1.5 years	 8 years
Risk free rate	 0.35%	 0.35%	 2.01%
Expected dividend yield	 0%	 0%	 0%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s 
share price over the previous 390 days for 2010 (2009: 398 weeks). The expected life used 
in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non 
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group recorded total expenses of approximately HK$8,376,000 (2009: HK$1,498,000) 
during the year in respect of the 2004 Share Option Scheme.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

76

CHINA SEVEN STAR SHOPPING LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2010

32.	Other Reserves
	T he Group
			S   hare-		F  oreign
			   based	S pecial	 currency	S tatutory
		S  hare	 payments	 capital	translation	 surplus
		  premium	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	T otal
		H  K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

At 1 January 2009		  504,930	 9,074	 726,699	 31,307	 5,862	 1,277,872
Recognition of share-based
  payments		  –	 1,498	 –	 –	 –	 1,498
Translation differences		  –	 –	 –	 305	 –	 305
		  	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2009		  504,930	 10,572	 726,699	 31,612	 5,862	 1,279,675
		  	 	 	 	 	

At 1 January 2010		  504,930	 10,572	 726,699	 31,612	 5,862	 1,279,675
Recognition of share-based
  payments		  –	 8,376	 –	 –	 –	 8,376
Issue of shares on share option scheme
  (Note 30)		  150	 –	 –	 –	 –	 150
Transfer		  318	 (318)	 –	 –	 –	 –
Translation differences		  –	 –	 –	 7,478	 –	 7,478
		  	 	 	 	 	

At 31 December 2010		  505,398	 18,630	 726,699	 39,090	 5,862	 1,295,679
		  	 	 	 	 	

	 The Company
			S   hare-
			   based	S pecial
		S  hare	 payments	 capital
		  premium	 reserve	 reserve	T otal
		H  K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000	H K$’000

At 1 January 2009		  504,930	 9,074	 726,699	 1,240,703
Recognition of share-based payments		  –	 1,498	 –	 1,498
		  	 	 	

At 31 December 2009		  504,930	 10,572	 726,699	 1,242,201
		  	 	 	

At 1 January 2010		  504,930	 10,572	 726,699	 1,242,201
Recognition of share-based payments		  –	 8,376	 –	 8,376
Issue of shares on share option scheme
  (Note 30)		  150	 –	 –	 150
Transfer		  318	 (318)	 –	 –
		  	 	 	

At 31 December 2010		  505,398	 18,630	 726,699	 1,250,727
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32.	Other Reserves (Continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves
(a)	 Share premium

Under section 48B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the funds in the share premium 
account of the Company can be applied in paying up unissued shares to be issued to 
shareholders as fully paid bonus shares; or in writing off the preliminary expenses or the 
expenses of, or the commission paid or discount allowed on, any issue of shares of the 
Company.

(b)	 Share-based payments reserve
The fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted to 
employees of the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted 
for share-based payments in Note 4(s) to the financial statements.

(c)	 Special capital reserve
The application of the special capital reserve is subject to the court order granted by the 
High Court of Hong Kong SAR. Pursuant to the High Court Order dated 20 November 
2002, as long as the Company shall remain a listed company, the balances shall be treated 
as an undistributable reserve of the Company for the purposes of Section 79C of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance or any statutory re-enactment or modification thereof provided 
that (1) the Company shall be at liberty to apply the said special capital reserve for the 
same purposes as a share premium account may be applied; and (2) the amount standing 
to the credit of the special capital reserve may be reduced by the amount of any increase, 
after the effective date, in the paid up share capital or the amount standing to the credit of 
the share premium account of the Company as a result of the payment up of shares by the 
receipt of new consideration or the capitalisation of distributable profits.

(d)	 Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt 
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 4(c)(iii) to the financial 
statements.

(e)	 Statutory surplus reserve
In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the respective company’s articles of 
association, a subsidiary of the Group established in the PRC, being a wholly foreign-
owned enterprise, is required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax (after 
offsetting any prior years’ losses), to the statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of the 
reserve fund reaches 50% of each entity’s registered capital, any further appropriation is 
optional. With the approval from the relevant authorities, the statutory surplus reserve can 
be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. The reserve fund cannot be 
distributed in the form of cash.
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33.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Partial disposal of a subsidiary
During the year, the Group disposed of 40% interests in a 99.6% subsidiary to an independent 
third party at a cash consideration of HK$561,000. The effect of the disposal on the equity 
attributable to the owners of the Company is as follows:

	 HK$’000

Share of net assets in the subsidiary disposed	 824

Consideration	 561
	

Loss on disposal recognised directly in equity	 263
	

34.	Pending Litigation
The Group is pursuing a legal proceeding against a vendor, a director of the vendor and two 
ex-directors of the Company in connection with the acquisition of a PRC hotel at a consideration 
of HK$120 million undertaken by the Group in September 2000. The Group is claiming the 
costs and expenses associated with the acquisition and as at the reporting date, the parties of 
the case are still attending to interlocutory matters and no hearing date has yet been fixed.

The Company is currently seeking legal advice on the litigations mentioned above. The directors 
believe that appropriate provisions have been made in the financial statements of the Group 
and the Group has valid claim/defence regarding the above litigations and consider that these 
outstanding litigations would not have material impact on the Group.

35.	Operating Lease Commitments
At 31 December 2010, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases are payable as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
	 	 	

	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Within one year	 4,752	 4,951	 731	 327
In the second to fifth years inclusive	 13,460	 13,034	 270	 –
After five years	 40,597	 42,509	 –	 –
	 	 	 	

	 58,809	 60,494	 1,001	 327
	 	 	 	

	
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office and 
warehouses. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to twenty years and rentals are 
fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.
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36.	Operating Lease Arrangements
At 31 December 2010, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases are receivable as follows:

	T he Group	T he Company
	 	 	

	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Within one year	 914	 60	 –	 –
In the second to fifth years inclusive	 1,866	 –	 –	 –
	 	 	 	

	 2,780	 60	 –	 –
	 	 	 	

37.	Related Party Transactions
(a)	 In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the 

financial statements, the Group had the following transactions with its related parties during 
the year:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Purchases from related companies (Note (i))	 196	 260
		  	

Notes :

(i)	 Mr. Ni Xinguang (“Mr. Ni”) and Mr. Wang Zhiming (“Mr. Wang”), the executive directors of the 
Company have respectively 60% and 40% equity interest in the ultimate parent of these related 
companies.

(ii)	 The abovesaid related party transactions were made under normal commercial terms and 
conditions that would also be available to unrelated third parties.
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37.	Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(b)	 At the end of the reporting period, the following balances with related parties included in:

		

	 2010	 2009
	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Trade payables to related companies (Notes (i) and (iii))	 (73)	 (540)
Other payables to a related company (Notes (ii) and (iii))	 –	 (1,831)
		  	

Notes:

(i)	 The above amounts are trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable in normal trading 
terms.

(ii)	 The other payables mostly included expenses paid on behalf of the Group by a related company. 
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment terms.

(iii)	 Mr. Ni and Mr. Wang have respectively 60% and 40% equity interest in the ultimate parent of 
these related companies.

38.	Approval of Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 
March 2011.
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	 2010	 2009	 2008	 2007	 2006
	H K$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000	 HK$’000

Results

Turnover	 580,085	 469,123	 298,296	 680,228	 92,430
	 	 	 	 	

			 
Profit/(loss) attributable to: 
  – Owners of the Company	 (42,367)	 6,200	 (165,508)	 (385,289)	 29,556
  – Non-controlling interests	 (207,129)	 (1,171)	 (2,254)	 (9,250)	 2,647	
	 	 	 	 	

			 
Assets and liabilities

Total assets	 1,254,296	 380,119	 371,349	 524,290	 309,384	
Total liabilities	 (1,164,625)	 (53,300)	 (54,524)	 (59,442)	 (56,001)
	 	 	 	 	

			 
Total equity	 89,671	 326,819	 316,825	 464,848	 253,383
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Properties held for resale

Location	L ease Term	E xisting use

Unit A26 on Ground Floor and Unit A on 2/F, 	 Medium term lease	 On lease
  Smiling Plaza, Hung Yu Mansion, Nos. 155-181		
  Castle Peak Road, Nos. 162-188 Un Chau Street,		
  Nos. 143-147 Camp Street and Nos. 162-164
  Pratas Street, Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
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